RAFAŁOWICZ, Magdalena, RAFAŁOWICZ, Adam, WOJCIECHOWSKA, Urszula, Justyna and MIERZEJEWSKI, Jakub. Why Diabetes Worsens Patient Prognosis: A Literature Review of Cardiovascular and Renal Complications. Quality in Sport. 2025;44:62877. eISSN 2450-3118.

https://doi.org/10.12775/QS.2025.44.62877 https://apcz.umk.pl/QS/article/view/62877

The journal has been awarded 20 points in the parametric evaluation by the Ministry of Higher Education and Science of Poland. This is according to the Annex to the announcement of the Minister of Higher Education and Science dated 05.01.2024, No. 32553. The journal has a Unique Identifier: 201398. Scientific disciplines assigned: Economics and Finance (Field of Social Sciences); Management and Quality Sciences (Field of Social Sciences).

Prunkty Ministerialne z 2019 - aktualny rok 20 punktów. Załącznik do komunikatu Ministra Szkolnictwa Wyższego i Nauki z dnia 05.01.2024 Lp. 32553. Posiada Unikatowy Identyfikator Czasopisma: 201398. Przypisane dyscypliny naukowe: Ekonomia i finanse (Dziedzina nauk społecznych); Nauki o zarządzaniu i jakości (Dziedzina nauk społecznych). © The Authors 2025.

This article is published with open access under the License Open Journal Systems of Nicolaus Copernicus University in Torun, Poland. Open Access: This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Compone Michael Programs of Przypisane data in any madium powided the original authoric original original original original original original original original original or

Commons Attribution Noncommercial License, which permits any noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited. This is an open access article licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-commercial Share Alike License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4,0/), which permits unrestricted, non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the work is properly cited.

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest regarding the publication of this paper.

Received: 24.06.2025. Revised: 21.07.2025. Accepted: 21.07.2025. Published: 06.08.2025.

Why Diabetes Worsens Patient Prognosis: A Literature Review of Cardiovascular and **Renal Complications**

Magdalena Rafałowicz¹ [MR], ORCID https://orcid.org/0009-0006-5270-305X

E-mail: madziarafalowicz@gmail.com

¹Medical University of Bialystok, ul. Jana Kilińskiego 1, 15-089 Białystok, Poland

Adam Rafałowicz² [AR], ORCID https://orcid.org/0009-0005-2535-6884

E-mail: adam.rafalowicz3321@gmail.com

²University Clinical Hospital in Bialystok, ul. M. C. Skłodowskiej 24a, 15-276 Białystok, Poland

Urszula Justyna Wojciechowska¹ [UW], ORCID https://orcid.org/0009-0006-8800-2386

E-mail: wojciechowskaula26@gmail.com

¹Medical University of Bialystok, ul. Jana Kilińskiego 1, 15-089 Białystok, Poland

Jakub Mierzejewski³ [JM], ORCID https://orcid.org/0009-0004-6689-8746

E-mail: jakub.mierzejewski99@gmail.com

³Masovian Specialist Hospital named after Dr Józef Psarski in Ostrołęka,

ul. aleja Jana Pawła II 120A, 07-410 Ostrołęka, Poland

Corresponding Author

Magdalena Rafałowicz, madziarafalowicz@gmail.com

Abstract

Background. Diabetes is considered a serious chronic metabolic disease due to its increasing

prevalence worldwide. The main factor worsening the prognosis of patients is cardiovascular

complications, which are the main factors of morbidity and mortality in diabetes.

Aim. This review aims to explain why diabetes exacerbates cardiovascular and renal diseases,

leading to worse clinical outcomes in affected individuals, focusing on its pathophysiological

mechanisms.

Material and Methods. A systematic literature review was conducted using PubMed and

Google Scholar databases. Meta-analyses, randomized controlled trials, cohort studies, and

systematic reviews regarding the impact of diabetes on arrhythmogenesis, myocardial

ischemia, stroke, venous thromboembolism and the development of chronic kidney disease

were analysed.

Results. Cardiac arrhythmias have been shown to be promoted by glycaemic variability and

autonomic neuropathy. Based on the research, we can conclude that the increased risk of

myocardial infarction and ischemic stroke is due to persistent hyperglycaemia, which, by

inducing oxidative stress and chronic inflammation, leads to endothelial dysfunction and

plaque instability. Based on the accumulated evidence, we know that the association between

diabetes and venous thromboembolism remains inconsistent. Diabetes significantly increases

the risk and worsens patients outcomes after ischemic stroke, mainly by increasing the risk of

ischemic focus haemorrhagic and reducing cortical plasticity. The effect of diabetes on the

course of haemorrhagic stroke is not unequivocal. Diabetic kidney disease increases the risk

of cardiovascular disease.

Conclusion. The multifactorial effects of hyperglycaemia on both the cardiovascular system

and chronic kidney disease synergistically worsen outcomes in diabetes. Early detection,

rigorous glycaemic control, and multifaceted management of risk factors are essential to

improve survival.

Keywords: diabetes; cardiovascular disease; diabetic kidney disease; arrhythmias; stroke

2

Contents

1. Introduction	3
2. Research materials and methods	4
3. Research result	4
3.1. Cardiac arrhythmias	4
3.1.1. Glucose level fluctuations	5
3.1.2. Autonomic neuropathy	6
3.1.3. Heart remodelling and changes in conduction	6
3.2. Myocardial ischaemia	
3.2.1. Endothelial dysfunction	7
3.2.2. Atherosclerotic plaque	7
3.2.3. Cardiac Autonomic Neuropathy	
3.3. Venous Thromboembolism	8
3.4. Stroke	9
3.4.1. Ischaemic Stroke	9
3.4.2. Haemorrhagic Stroke	
3.5. Chronic kidney disease	
4. Discussion	11
5. Conclusion	12
Disclosure	
Author's contribution	
Funding Statement	13
Institutional Review and Board Statement	
Informed Consent Statement	13
Data Availability Statement	
Conflict of Interest Statement	
References:	14

1. Introduction

Diabetes is defined as a serious chronic disease. which result from insufficient insulin production or the inability of the body to use it effectively (Hossain et al., 2024a). It is believed that there are mainly 2 types of diabetes. Type 1 diabetes (T1DM) is an autoimmune disease that causes the destruction of β cells of the pancreas, which results in a rapid decrease

in insulin and the need for constant insulin therapy. Type 2 diabetes (T2DM) develops gradually due to increasing insulin resistance of tissues and initial hyperinsulinemia, which eventually stops due to the depletion of the β cell reserve. It has been noted that T2DM is associated with obesity, improper diet and lack of physical activity and usually manifests itself in middle or old age (Antar et al., 2023). Thanks to the data collected from the International Diabetes Federation, we know that diabetes is a global problem. It has been shown that in 2021 there were about 537 million people with diabetes, and the healthcare costs amounted to 966 billion dollars. The number of people with diabetes is expected to increase by 643 million in 2030 and 783 million in 2045, which will translate into expenditures exceeding 1 trillion dollars (Hossain et al., 2024b). It has been shown that the main cause of death in people with T2DM are cardiovascular disease complications. They are responsible for about half of all deaths in this group of patients. It is suspected that people with T2DM have more than twice the risk of death from cardiovascular complications than people without diabetes. It has been proven that the presence of cardiovascular disease in a patient with diabetes significantly worsens the prognosis by increasing overall mortality. This has shown how important it is to detect and control cardiovascular risk factors early (Yun and Ko, 2021). The priority is to determine the causes of the increase in the incidence of cardiovascular complications, due to the prevalence and tendency to increase the number of diabetes cases. Therefore, the aim of this study is to present the existing knowledge on the impact of diabetes on the increased incidence of cardiovascular complications and patient prognosis.

2. Research materials and methods

A review of the literature available in the PubMed and Google Scholar databases was carried out, focusing on clinical trials, meta-analyses, and systematic reviews related to the impact of diabetes on patient outcomes, primarily caused by cardiovascular complications. The search strategy included keywords such as: diabetes; cardiovascular disease; diabetic kidney disease; arrhythmias; stroke.

3. Research result

3.1. Cardiac arrhythmias

The presence of diabetes significantly increases the incidence of arrhythmias and their associated morbidity and mortality (Gaur et al., 2024). The ethology of heart rhythm disturbances in diabetes is multifactorial (Grisanti, 2018).

3.1.1. Glucose level fluctuations

In meta-analysis it was shown that hypoglycaemia was associated with an increased incidence of cardiac arrhythmias (Li et al., 2023). Nocturnal drops in blood glucose promoted the development of arrhythmias such as: bradycardia, atrial ectopic beats and single ventricular beats (Chow et al., 2014).

Hypoglycaemia causes changes in the autonomic nervous system tone, first increasing the sympathetic compensatory response, which manifests itself and then after a few to a dozen or so minutes, compensatory action of the parasympathetic, which results in increased parasympathetic tone and bradycardia at night (Chow et al., 2014; Li et al., 2023). In an animal study model, it has been shown that the main mechanism of severe, fatal cardiac arrhythmias during hypoglycaemia is not the activation of the sympathetic nervous system, but excessive activation of the parasympathetic nervous system, particularly through acetylcholine acting on nicotinic receptors in the heart (Reno et al., 2019).

On the other hand, arrhythmia induction also involves the sympathetic nervous system. In response to neuroglycopenia, sympathetic nervous system activation raises catecholamine levels, especially norepinephrine, which can provoke a spectrum of arrhythmias (QTc prolongation, premature ventricular contractions, atrio-ventricular block) that may culminate in cardiac arrest. Hypoglycaemia also lowers potassium levels, which increases the risk of arrhythmia; maintaining normal potassium levels significantly reduces mortality. It has also been shown that previous episodes of mild hypoglycaemia attenuate the catecholamine response to severe hypoglycaemia and protect against death, also indicating the involvement of the sympathetic nervous system in the induction of cardiac arrhythmias (Reno et al., 2013).

It was noted that not only the decrease in glucose level causes the increased risk of arrhythmia, but also its fluctuations at high and low concentrations. In an animal model of streptozotocin-induced diabetes, it was shown that significant differences in glucose concentrations were associated with a high susceptibility to the development of atrial fibrillation, caused by a

significant increase in oxidative stress, and consequently apoptosis of cardiomyocytes, muscle and articular fibrosis (Saito et al., 2014).

3.1.2. Autonomic neuropathy

Diabetes affects nerve degeneration in many ways, it has a negative effect through mechanisms such as: the formation of advanced glycation end products, activation of PARP pathways that destabilize proteins and DNA of nerve cells, increasing oxidative stress, leading to microangiopathy, supplying nerves (Diabetic neuropathy, 2019).

Autonomic degeneration can affect patient deterioration by reducing exercise tolerance, caused by impaired rhythm and pressure modulation, causing insufficient adaptation of the heart during exercise, which manifests itself as rapid fatigue and shortness of breath. Damage to the parasympathetic nervous system contributes to the development of resting tachycardia, which does not decrease during sleep (Agashe and Petak, 2018).

3.1.3. Heart remodelling and changes in conduction

The clinical study showed a correlation between the occurrence of high frequency of supraventricular arrhythmias and right ventricular and atrial remodelling at T2DM patients. Ventricular extrasystoles and bradycardia episodes also correlate with structural changes, but they depend to a greater extent on the remodelling of the left side of the heart (Sarapultsev et al., 2017).

3.2. Myocardial ischaemia

T2DM significantly increases the risk of cardiovascular events, including myocardial infarction. Moreover, even if they have not had coronary artery disease before, they are at as high a risk of acute coronary syndrome as those with documented disease, and among those who have already had a heart attack, the probability of a recurrence within 10 years exceeds 40% (Cui et al., 2021).

Individuals with T1DM diabetes face almost a threefold higher overall mortality rate than the general population, and they experience cardiovascular complications on average more than ten years earlier. Even in young adults, the annual likelihood of a cardiovascular event is still around 1–2%. Furthermore, those with suboptimal glycaemic control may see their risk of

dying from cardiovascular causes increase by up to eightfold compared to people without T1DM (Schofield et al., 2019).

3.2.1. Endothelial dysfunction

In diabetes, endothelial dysfunction results from the overlap of several processes: direct toxic effects of hyperglycaemia and free radicals on endothelial cells, metabolic disorders (macrovesicles, unfavourable lipid profile), and concomitant inflammation and hypertension. Together, they lead to reduced NO synthesis and loss of the ability of vessels to properly dilate (Stampouloglou et al., 2023).

Endothelial dysfunction has been shown to independently forecast adverse long-term coronary and cardiovascular outcomes even in patients with angiographically normal coronary arteries: both invasive assessments and non-invasive techniques have consistently linked impaired endothelial responses to a poorer clinical course over extended follow-up. Moreover, pooled analyses demonstrate that flow-mediated dilation performs at least as well and in some studies even better, than conventional risk markers in predicting future cardiovascular events, underscoring its value as an independent prognostic indicator (Hamilton and Watts, 2013).

3.2.2. Atherosclerotic plaque

In diabetics, atherosclerotic plaques are more unstable and inflammatory than in nondiabetics: they accumulate lipid cores earlier and more abundantly and are heavily infiltrated with macrophages, which weakens the fibrous cap. Sharp-tipped cholesterol crystals increase local inflammation and can mechanically damage the plaque surface. Although extensive calcification often occurs, which provides some stiffness, it is accompanied by increased vessel stiffness and uneven stress distribution, which promotes fracture. In diabetics, it is fractures, not surface erosion, that predominate as the cause of incidents, and the risky features of plaques appear earlier and persist throughout life (Suzuki et al., 2023).

On the other hand, it is believed that in patients with T2DM the key factor predisposing plaques to rupture is impaired fibrous repair rather than heightened inflammation. This is evidenced by reduced collagen and elastin levels, which weaken the plaque scaffold, alongside lower platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) concentrations (limiting smooth muscle cell proliferation and migration) and diminished matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2)

activity (necessary for proper matrix remodelling). The absence of differences in macrophage content or proinflammatory cytokines compared to non-diabetic patients, together with strong positive correlations between PDGF, MMP-2 and collagen/elastin levels, underscores that the primary issue is a failure of repair mechanisms (Edsfeldt et al., 2014).

3.2.3. Cardiac Autonomic Neuropathy

Cardiac autonomic neuropathy (CAN) is a form of diabetic autonomic neuropathy affecting cardiovascular regulation, is a major contributor to impaired pain perception during myocardial ischemia, leading to a high prevalence of silent myocardial ischemia and "painless" heart attacks in people with diabetes. This neuropathy is associated with higher mortality and a range of serious cardiovascular complications, and by blunting the sensation of coronary pain, it substantially increases the risk of unrecognized and therefore untreated ischemic events (Gogan et al., 2025).

CAN occurs in both T1DM and T2DM, and its severity increases with the duration of the disease. Already at the time of diagnosis, some patients have autonomic disorders, and several years after diagnosis, the problem affects a significant proportion of patients. Moreover autonomic dysfunction often accompanies established cardiovascular disease, longer diabetes duration, and poor glycaemic control, affecting about one-third of people with T1DM (Serhiyenko and Serhiyenko, 2018).

3.3. Venous Thromboembolism

Venous thromboembolism (VTE), including deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE), affects 1 in 1,000 people and causes thousands of deaths annually in the UK. Moreover PE is the leading cause of inpatient death and the most common cause of death in pregnancy (Roberts and Arya, 2011). Currently, there are no studies directly indicating diabetes as a direct cause of VTE, differences between studies make the evidence for an association of diabetes with VTE equivocal, but there are studies showing the probable involvement of diabetes in the pathophysiology of these diseases (Bell et al., 2016a). Having that in mind, diabetes tends to have little effect on venous thromboembolism disease (Pastori et al., 2023). In a meta-analysis including a total population of over 100,000 individuals, a borderline statistically significant increase in the risk of events was observed for DVT/PE in

patients with diabetes compared to those without diabetes. Additionally, due to moderate heterogeneity (I² = 59.7%), it was not possible to precisely determine the impact of diabetes on VTE risk (Bell et al., 2016b). Another study found that women with T2DM whose HbA₁c exceeds 7% may face a slightly elevated risk of unprovoked VTE compared to those with levels between 6.5% and 7.0%, also it was noted that men showed no effect of maintaining normal glucose levels on the risk of VTE (R. Charlier et al., 2022). In the retrospective cohort study, it was shown that the study group, patients with diabetes, had a 1.4 times higher risk of VTE compared to the control group. Furthermore, the risk was higher in women than in men, especially in the age group 50–59 years. (Deischinger et al., 2022).

3.4. Stroke

3.4.1. Ischaemic Stroke

Diabetes is one of the most significant risk factors for ischemic stroke, especially in individuals under the age of 65. Epidemiological studies have shown that diabetes alone accounts for 37–42% of all ischemic strokes. Moreover, diabetes markedly increases the incidence of ischemic stroke across all age groups, with the strongest effect observed in younger patients; as a result, individuals with diabetes tend to experience strokes at a younger average age than those without the condition (Kissela et al., 2005). The mechanisms of diabetes involvement in ischemic stroke are very similar to those in coronary artery disease, they mainly include: endothelial dysfunction, inflammation and impaired plate stability (Maida et al., 2022a). Diabetes is an independent risk factor for poorer return to independence in daily activities. In addition, newly diagnosed diabetics had a more difficult return to independence than patients with a longer history of treatment (Yang et al., 2021).

In addition, there are reports that diabetes worsens the prognosis after stroke in an animal model, specifically mice. Diabetes was induced in them by streptozotocin and then photothrombotic stroke was induced in the somatosensory cortex to assess cortical plasticity and functional recovery after stroke. Studies have shown that diabetes can significantly impair the plasticity of the cerebral cortex after stroke. This phenomenon prevents the remapping of somatosensory function and leads to a reduction in sensorimotor recovery. It turns out that mice with diabetes do not show increased size of lesions. These studies may suggest deficits in plasticity mechanisms, and not, as it might seem, primary damage (Sweetnam et al., 2012).

In another study using a similar animal model, it was also shown that diabetes did not affect the size of the ischemic focus, but intensified the haemorrhagic transformation of the lesion by inducing mitochondrial defects and endothelial cell apoptosis (Mishiro et al., 2014). It has been shown that haemorrhagic transformation of the ischemic focus significantly worsens the prognosis of the patient after stroke. Symptomatic haemorrhagic transformation leads to worse neurological outcomes in the long term, and is also one of the main causes of death in the acute phase of ischemic stroke (Hong et al., 2021).

There is no clear evidence confirming the influence of diabetes on the location of the affected cerebral artery (POP et al., 2021). There are studies indicating that T2DM predisposes primarily to ischemic strokes of the small vessel type (lacunar stroke) and increases the share of posterior circulation strokes, while at the same time reducing the share of cardiogenic and haemorrhagic strokes (Maida et al., 2022b).

3.4.2. Haemorrhagic Stroke

The role of diabetes as a factor increasing the risk of haemorrhagic stroke has not been elucidated yet (Hill, 2014; Lau et al., 2019; Sacco et al., 2024a; Mavridis et al., 2025). Thanks to the conducted meta-analyses, we know that on average 26% of patients with haemorrhagic stroke had diabetes. Studies show, however, that hyperglycaemia occurring during the acute phase of intracerebral haemorrhage was associated with greater hematoma growth and worse clinical outcomes (Lau et al., 2019). Based on the meta-analysis of 102 prospective studies, it was found that diabetes is associated with a statistically significantly increased risk of haemorrhagic stroke (Sacco et al., 2024b). A retrospective cohort study showed that T1DM significantly increased the risk of haemorrhagic stroke in people with T1DM – HR 1.88 (95%) CI 1.57–2.26) compared to people without diabetes, whereas T2DM was not associated with a significantly increased risk of haemorrhagic stroke – HR 0.99 (95% CI 0.96–1.02) (Mavridis et al., 2025). Studies focusing on deep brain locations have revealed an association between excessive fluctuations in fasting blood glucose towards hyperglycaemia and hypoglycaemia and an increased risk of intracerebral haemorrhage (Jin et al., 2018). Considering the locations and the association of abnormal fasting glucose levels, it can be hypothesized that diabetesinduced small vessel disease is a potential cause of haemorrhage (Jin et al., 2018; Liu et al., 2018; Mavridis et al., 2025).

3.5. Chronic kidney disease

Diabetic kidney disease (DKD) is the primary cause of the disease and the end-stage cause, because it occurs in 20-50% of patients with T2DM, and also accounts for 50% of all cases. Determining the type of coefficient, in 2-4% of the impact, the result of the estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) below 60 ml/min/1.73 m² (Hoogeveen, 2022). It is believed that in DKD both microalbuminuria and macroalbuminuria are fundamental, manifest markers of kidney disease. Thanks to the studies carried out, we know that albumin, which indicates the presence of a filtration membrane and the accompanying decrease in eGFR, which occurs as a consequence of the disease, has been excluded. Albuminuria is also used as an independent risk factor for cardiovascular disease, which signals dysfunction of the epithelium. It can be concluded that in the case of T21M, albuminuria may correlate with CKD indicators more strongly than in the case of T2DM, which represents a more specific and warning "diabetic disease" in patients with T1DM (Majeed et al., 2022). Studies showing that the annual incidence of albuminuria is higher in soldiers with T2DM and is about 8% in the known from 2–3% in soldiers with T1DM (Hoogeveen, 2022). An epidemiological study of 15,046 adult participants showed that DKD affects poorer prognosis. As many as 31.1% of patients with T2DM and DKD died within ten years mainly from cardiovascular causes, while without DKD the 10-year cumulative mortality was 11.5%, which was an increase of 3.9 percentage points compared to the reference group without diabetes and DKD (Afkarian et al., 2013).

4. Discussion

This study summarizes the key mechanisms by which diabetes contributes to increased risk of cardiovascular complications. It has been shown that a higher incidence of cardiac arrhythmias is strongly associated with fluctuations in blood glucose levels. From animal and clinical studies, we know that hypoglycaemia activates the autonomic nervous system, first by increasing sympathetic activity and then parasympathetic tone, which can cause bradycardia and other arrhythmias. Acute changes in glucose levels have been shown to increase oxidative stress, promote cardiac remodelling, and facilitate structural changes in the atria and ventricles, which can predispose patients to atrial fibrillation and other arrhythmias. In people

with diabetes, direct damage to the nervous system has also been observed, which can reduce exercise tolerance and contribute to resting tachycardia, which persists even at night.

It has been noted that patients with diabetes are also more susceptible to myocardial ischemia. The researchers found that the resulting atherosclerotic plaques and impaired vasodilation due to epithelial dysfunction are the result of chronic hyperglycaemia, and therefore oxidative stress and the resulting inflammatory process. Due to poor repair mechanisms, often makes diabetic plaques more unstable and more prone to rupture. Cardiac autonomic neuropathy has been shown to mask the typical symptoms of myocardial ischemia, which delays diagnosis and treatment and increases mortality.

There have been studies suggesting that women with poorly controlled T2DM, in particular, have a slightly increased risk of venous thromboembolism. However, current evidence does not clearly support diabetes as a direct cause. Therefore, further research is important to resolve this association. What we do know is that diabetes is a well-known risk factor for ischemic stroke and also worsens outcomes after stroke. Studies have shown that it contributes to endothelial dysfunction and plaque instability in the arteries of the brain, similar to the mechanisms in coronary artery disease. From studies in animal models, we know that diabetes can reduce brain plasticity and regeneration after ischemic injury, which may impede functional recovery. The association of diabetes with haemorrhagic stroke is less clear. Some studies show that T1DM may increase the risk, and that large fluctuations in glucose levels may affect the integrity of small vessels and increase the risk of intracerebral haemorrhage. Finally, diabetic kidney disease remains a major contributor to morbidity and mortality. Albuminuria and declining renal function are common in patients with diabetes and are strong predictors of cardiovascular events and premature death. Effective prevention and treatment of kidney damage are therefore crucial to managing overall cardiovascular risk.

5. Conclusion

In light of the literature review, diabetes significantly worsens the prognosis of patients, exacerbating cardiovascular dysfunction through multiple pathways. It has been proven that the increased risk of myocardial infarction and stroke may be caused by chronic hyperglycaemia and inflammation through endothelial dysfunction and plaque instability. On the other hand, glycemia fluctuations and autonomic nerve damage promote arrhythmia.

Thanks to the conducted studies, we know that diabetes clearly contributes to the progression of chronic kidney disease, although the relationship between diabetes and venous thromboembolism is less documented. In light of the arguments presented, it can be firmly stated that early detection and comprehensive treatment of cardiovascular and renal risk factors remain crucial for improving the survival and quality of life of people with diabetes.

Disclosure

Author's contribution

Conceptualization: [AR], [MR], [UW]

Methodology: [MR], [AR]

Formal analysis: [AR], [UW], [JM]

Investigation: [MR], [AR], [JM]

Writing-rough preparation: [JM], [MR]

Writing-review and editing: [MR], [UW]

Supervision: [UW], [AR]

Receiving funding – not applicable

All authors have read and agreed with the published version of the manuscript.

Funding Statement

The article did not receive any funding.

Institutional Review and Board Statement

Not applicable.

Informed Consent Statement

Not applicable.

Data Availability Statement

Not applicable.

Conflict of Interest Statement

Authors declare no conflicts of interest.

References:

Afkarian M, Sachs MC, Kestenbaum B, Hirsch IB, Tuttle KR, Himmelfarb J, et al. Kidney Disease and Increased Mortality Risk in Type 2 Diabetes. Journal of the American Society of Nephrology 2013;24:302–8. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2012070718.

Agashe S, Petak S. Cardiac Autonomic Neuropathy in Diabetes Mellitus. Methodist Debakey Cardiovasc J 2018;14:251. https://doi.org/10.14797/mdcj-14-4-251.

Antar SA, Ashour Nada A., Sharaky M, Khattab M, Ashour Naira A., Zaid RT, et al. Diabetes mellitus: Classification, mediators, and complications; A gate to identify potential targets for the development of new effective treatments. Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy 2023;168:115734. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2023.115734.

Bell EJ, Folsom AR, Lutsey PL, Selvin E, Zakai NA, Cushman M, et al. Diabetes mellitus and venous thromboembolism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2016a;111:10–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2015.10.019.

Bell EJ, Folsom AR, Lutsey PL, Selvin E, Zakai NA, Cushman M, et al. Diabetes mellitus and venous thromboembolism: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2016b;111:10–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2015.10.019.

Chow E, Bernjak A, Williams S, Fawdry RA, Hibbert S, Freeman J, et al. Risk of Cardiac Arrhythmias During Hypoglycemia in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes and Cardiovascular Risk. Diabetes 2014;63:1738–47. https://doi.org/10.2337/db13-0468.

Cui J, Liu Yanfei, Li Y, Xu F, Liu Yue. Type 2 Diabetes and Myocardial Infarction: Recent Clinical Evidence and Perspective. Front Cardiovasc Med 2021;8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcvm.2021.644189.

Deischinger C, Dervic E, Nopp S, Kaleta M, Klimek P, Kautzky-Willer A. Diabetes mellitus is associated with a higher relative risk for venous thromboembolism in females than in males. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2022;194:110190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2022.110190.

Diabetic neuropathy. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2019;5:42. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0097-9.

Edsfeldt A, Gonçalves I, Grufman H, Nitulescu M, Dunér P, Bengtsson E, et al. Impaired Fibrous Repair. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2014;34:2143–50. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303414.

Gaur U, Gadkari C, Pundkar A. Associated Factors and Mortality of Arrhythmia in Emergency Department: A Narrative Review. Cureus 2024. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.68645.

Gogan A, Potre O, Avram V-F, Andor M, Caruntu F, Timar B. Cardiac Autonomic Neuropathy in Diabetes Mellitus: Pathogenesis, Epidemiology, Diagnosis and Clinical Implications: A Narrative Review. J Clin Med 2025;14:671. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm14030671.

Grisanti LA. Diabetes and Arrhythmias: Pathophysiology, Mechanisms and Therapeutic Outcomes. Front Physiol 2018;9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2018.01669.

Hamilton SJ, Watts GF. Endothelial Dysfunction in Diabetes: Pathogenesis, Significance, and Treatment. The Review of Diabetic Studies 2013;10:133–56. https://doi.org/10.1900/RDS.2013.10.133.

Hill MD. Stroke and diabetes mellitus, 2014, p. 167–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-53480-4.00012-6.

Hong JM, Kim DS, Kim M. Hemorrhagic Transformation After Ischemic Stroke: Mechanisms and Management. Front Neurol 2021;12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2021.703258.

Hoogeveen EK. The Epidemiology of Diabetic Kidney Disease. Kidney and Dialysis 2022;2:433–42. https://doi.org/10.3390/kidneydial2030038.

Hossain MdJ, Al-Mamun Md, Islam MdR. Diabetes mellitus, the fastest growing global public health concern: Early detection should be focused. Health Sci Rep 2024a;7. https://doi.org/10.1002/hsr2.2004.

Hossain MdJ, Al-Mamun Md, Islam MdR. Diabetes mellitus, the fastest growing global public health concern: Early detection should be focused. Health Sci Rep 2024b;7. https://doi.org/10.1002/hsr2.2004.

Jin C, Li G, Rexrode KM, Gurol ME, Yuan X, Hui Y, et al. Prospective Study of Fasting Blood Glucose and Intracerebral Hemorrhagic Risk. Stroke 2018;49:27–33. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.019189.

Kissela BM, Khoury J, Kleindorfer D, Woo D, Schneider A, Alwell K, et al. Epidemiology of Ischemic Stroke in Patients With Diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005;28:355–9. https://doi.org/10.2337/diacare.28.2.355.

Lau L, Lew J, Borschmann K, Thijs V, Ekinci EI. Prevalence of diabetes and its effects on stroke outcomes: A meta-analysis and literature review. J Diabetes Investig 2019;10:780–92. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdi.12932.

Li G, Zhong S, Wang X, Zhuge F. Association of hypoglycaemia with the risks of arrhythmia and mortality in individuals with diabetes - a systematic review and meta-analysis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2023;14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2023.1222409.

Liu J, Rutten-Jacobs L, Liu M, Markus HS, Traylor M. Causal Impact of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus on Cerebral Small Vessel Disease. Stroke 2018;49:1325–31. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.020536.

Maida CD, Daidone M, Pacinella G, Norrito RL, Pinto A, Tuttolomondo A. Diabetes and Ischemic Stroke: An Old and New Relationship an Overview of the Close Interaction between These Diseases. Int J Mol Sci 2022a;23:2397. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23042397.

Maida CD, Daidone M, Pacinella G, Norrito RL, Pinto A, Tuttolomondo A. Diabetes and Ischemic Stroke: An Old and New Relationship an Overview of the Close Interaction between These Diseases. Int J Mol Sci 2022b;23:2397. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms23042397.

Majeed M, Ahmed F, Teeling M. The Prevalence of Chronic Kidney Disease and Albuminuria in Patients With Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes Attending a Single Centre. Cureus 2022. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.32248.

Mavridis A, Viktorisson A, Eliasson B, von Euler M, Sunnerhagen KS. Risk of Ischemic and Hemorrhagic Stroke in Individuals With Type 1 and Type 2 Diabetes. Neurology 2025;104. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0000000000213480.

Mishiro K, Imai T, Sugitani S, Kitashoji A, Suzuki Y, Takagi T, et al. Diabetes Mellitus Aggravates Hemorrhagic Transformation after Ischemic Stroke via Mitochondrial Defects Leading to Endothelial Apoptosis. PLoS One 2014;9:e103818. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0103818.

Pastori D, Cormaci VM, Marucci S, Franchino G, Del Sole F, Capozza A, et al. A Comprehensive Review of Risk Factors for Venous Thromboembolism: From Epidemiology to Pathophysiology. Int J Mol Sci 2023;24:3169. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24043169.

POP NO, BABEȘ PA, HOLHOȘ LB, GAVRILUȚ E, MEKEREȘ GM, MEKERES-RACOVIȚĂ M, et al. Current data about localization of acute ischemic stroke and prognostic factors in diabetic and non-diabetic patients. Romanian Journal of Medical Practice 2021;16:215–24. https://doi.org/10.37897/RJMP.2021.2.19.

R. Charlier SH, Meier C, Jick SS, Meier CR, Becker C. Association between glycemic control and risk of venous thromboembolism in diabetic patients: a nested case—control study. Cardiovasc Diabetol 2022;21:2. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12933-021-01432-1.

Reno CM, Bayles J, Huang Y, Oxspring M, Hirahara AM, Dosdall DJ, et al. Severe Hypoglycemia–Induced Fatal Cardiac Arrhythmias Are Mediated by the Parasympathetic Nervous System in Rats. Diabetes 2019;68:2107–19. https://doi.org/10.2337/db19-0306.

Reno CM, Daphna-Iken D, Chen YS, VanderWeele J, Jethi K, Fisher SJ. Severe Hypoglycemia–Induced Lethal Cardiac Arrhythmias Are Mediated by Sympathoadrenal Activation. Diabetes 2013;62:3570–81. https://doi.org/10.2337/db13-0216.

Roberts LN, Arya R. Deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: diagnosis, treatment and prevention. Clinical Medicine 2011;11:465–6. https://doi.org/10.7861/clinmedicine.11-5-465.

Sacco S, Foschi M, Ornello R, De Santis F, Pofi R, Romoli M. Prevention and treatment of ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke in people with diabetes mellitus: a focus on glucose control and comorbidities. Diabetologia 2024a;67:1192–205. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-024-06146-z.

Sacco S, Foschi M, Ornello R, De Santis F, Pofi R, Romoli M. Prevention and treatment of ischaemic and haemorrhagic stroke in people with diabetes mellitus: a focus on glucose control and comorbidities. Diabetologia 2024b;67:1192–205. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-024-06146-z.

Saito S, Teshima Y, Fukui A, Kondo H, Nishio S, Nakagawa M, et al. Glucose fluctuations increase the incidence of atrial fibrillation in diabetic rats. Cardiovasc Res 2014;104:5–14. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvu176.

Sarapultsev P, Yushkov B, Sarapultsev A. Prevalence of arrhythmias in patients with type 2 diabetes and the role of structural changes in myocardium in their development. Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews 2017;11:S567–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2017.04.006.

Schofield J, Ho J, Soran H. Cardiovascular Risk in Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Therapy 2019;10:773–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13300-019-0612-8.

Serhiyenko VA, Serhiyenko AA. Cardiac autonomic neuropathy: Risk factors, diagnosis and treatment. World J Diabetes 2018;9:1–24. https://doi.org/10.4239/wjd.v9.i1.1.

Stampouloglou PK, Anastasiou A, Bletsa E, Lygkoni S, Chouzouri F, Xenou M, et al. Diabetes Mellitus in Acute Coronary Syndrome. Life 2023;13:2226. https://doi.org/10.3390/life13112226.

Suzuki K, Niida T, Yuki H, Kinoshita D, Fujimoto D, Lee H, et al. Coronary Plaque Characteristics and Underlying Mechanism of Acute Coronary Syndromes in Different Age Groups of Patients With Diabetes. J Am Heart Assoc 2023;12. https://doi.org/10.1161/JAHA.123.031474.

Sweetnam D, Holmes A, Tennant KA, Zamani A, Walle M, Jones P, et al. Diabetes Impairs Cortical Plasticity and Functional Recovery Following Ischemic Stroke. The Journal of Neuroscience 2012;32:5132–43. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5075-11.2012.

Yang S, Boudier-Revéret M, Kwon S, Lee MY, Chang MC. Effect of diabetes on post-stroke recovery: A systematic narrative review. 2021. https://doi.org/10.37766/inplasy2021.11.0032.

Yun J-S, Ko S-H. Current trends in epidemiology of cardiovascular disease and cardiovascular risk management in type 2 diabetes. Metabolism 2021;123:154838. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2021.154838.